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I. Overview.

A. National problem. Sex abuse is a national problem that goes beyond any 
religion or any particular institution. Other religious faiths, as well as secular nonprofit 
institutions, have had publicized abuse problems within their ranks, including the Hari 
Krishnas, Mormons, and the Boy Scouts Of America in Oregon.

B. Catholic church attracts more attention. The Roman Catholic Church 
has attracted far more attention than other institutions for a number of reasons, including 
the global scope of the church, the manner in which the Roman Catholic hierarchy has 
dealt with the crisis, and recent decisions by Catholic dioceses and religious orders to file 
for chapter 11 protection to deal with the sex abuse claims. The following dioceses and 
Catholic religious orders have sought bankruptcy protection over the last several years:

 Archdiocese of Milwaukee (2011)

 Catholic Diocese of Wilmington (2009)

 Society of Jesus, Oregon Province (Northwest Jesuits) (2009)

 Catholic Bishop of Northern Alaska (Fairbanks) (2008)

 Roman Catholic Bishop of San Diego (2007)

 Diocese of Davenport (2006)

 Catholic Diocese of Spokane (2004)

 Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Portland (2004)

 Roman Catholic Diocese of Tucson (2004)

In addition, others have threatened to file bankruptcy in settlement negotiations with 
respect to survivor sex abuse claims. 

C. Estimates of total liability. The most recent estimates for resolving the 
sex abuse claims within the United States alone is approximately $2.7 billion. The recent 
bankruptcy filings have been resolved through the creation of settlement funds by the 
bankruptcy estates and in some cases insurance contributions. The following gives some 
idea of the magnitude of the problem from a financial standpoint:

San Diego $200 Million

Jesuits, Oregon Province $166 Million

Wilmington $77.5 Million
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Davenport $50 Million

Spokane $50 Million

Fairbanks $10 Million

These six alone total over half a billion dollars. Others have settled without bankruptcy 
proceedings:

Los Angeles $600 Million

Boston $85 Million

D. The dimensions of the problem. The financial, spiritual, and religious 
dimension of clergy sex abuse within the Catholic Church is overwhelming. The first 
Grand Jury report on the Archdiocese of Philadelphia observed, in September 2003, that 
“we have received a tragic education – about the nature of child abuse, for example how 
predators manipulate their prey, why the abuse so often goes unreported, how its impact 
on victims and their families remains lifelong. Even so, we find it hard to comprehend or 
absorb the full extent of the malevolence and suffering visited on this community, under 
cover of the clerical collar, by powerful, respected and rapacious priests.” Tragically and 
chillingly, the second report of the Grand Jury issued in January 2011 concluded that not 
much as changed since the first report. “The rapist priests we accuse were well known to 
the Secretary of the Clergy, but he cloaked their conduct and put them in place to do it 
again. The procedures implemented by the Archdiocese to help victims are in fact 
designed to help the abusers, and the Archdiocese itself. Worst of all, apparent abusers –
dozens of them – remain on duty in the Archdiocese, today with open access to new 
young prey.” “The sexual abuse of a child is a most serious crime and an act repugnant to 
the moral instincts of a decent people.” Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coalition, 535 U.S. 234, 
244 (2002). The initial legal questions were whether the dioceses and religious orders 
could be liable for sex abuse committed by their individual priests and upon what 
theories. Now that courts and juries have found that they are liable, what is the 
appropriate remedy and how may it be achieved?

E. Bankruptcy courts are increasingly being called upon to resolve the 
problem. Faced with claims often in the hundreds of millions of dollars and dioceses that 
do not have (or contend that they do not have) sufficient assets to pay these claims in full, 
bankruptcy courts have been called upon to answer this question with increasing 
frequency. 
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F. Pace of filings likely to increase. The pace of diocesan bankruptcies 
could accelerate as more states enact child victim acts that open the window on statutes 
of limitation so that  survivors of clergy sex abuse may file claims during a one or two-
year period even where the abuse occurred decades ago. These “window” statutes have 
already been enacted in California and Delaware and are currently being considered by 
various other state legislatures. 

G. Resemblance to other mass tort chapter 11 cases. The diocesan chapter 
11 cases resemble other mass tort chapter 11 cases such as the chapter 11 cases involving 
asbestosis, products liability (Dow Corning, A.H. Robbins), and others in that the debtors 
seek a single forum to manage multiple tort claims and obtain a discharge to eliminate 
existing and future claims. The cases present competing equities between relatively 
innocent parties: survivors of clergy sex abuse, church members/parishioners, and the 
communities that are served by the diocese. Bankruptcy courts are also presented with an 
unusual conflict between the normal rules that apply in chapter 11 cases and canon 
law/internal rules of the church itself, which the church has argued should supersede state 
and bankruptcy law and jurisdiction on property issues. 

H. Conflict between canon law (internal church law) and civil law. 
Because of the competing equities, the fact that generally applicable bankruptcy and state 
laws are often in conflict with internal church (canon) law, and issues of constitutional 
and statutory religious liberty, diocesan bankruptcies push the envelope of bankruptcy 
law and procedures. The positions taken by the parties and the complexity of issues make 
litigating disputed issues even more protracted and expensive than in other cases and with 
less predictable results. For example, the diocese may contend that most of its assets are 
“restricted,” that donors have property interests in donations, and that if the purpose of a 
donation is not fulfilled, the property reverts to the donor.

I. Choices for court are sometimes stark. Moreover, if the bankruptcy 
courts must decide between the parties’ positions, the choices can be stark. The church 
argues that compelling the diocese and parishes to contemplate selling their assets, 
including churches and schools, violates constitutional principles of religious liberty, but 
otherwise the survivors may be left with far less than they would otherwise be entitled if 
the decision was left to juries and state courts. 

II. Religious liberty principles and conflicts with civil law.

A. The Religious Freedom Restoration Act of 1994, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000bb-
2000bb-4 (“RFRA”), prohibits the federal government from imposing a substantial 
burden on a person’s free exercise of religion, absent a compelling state interest. It 
provides:

(a) In general

Government shall not substantially burden a person's exercise of religion even if 
the burden results from a rule of general applicability, except as provided in 
subsection (b) of this section.
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(b) Exception

Government may substantially burden a person's exercise of religion only if it 
demonstrates that application of the burden to the person-

(1) is in furtherance of a compelling governmental interest; and

(2) is the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling governmental 
interest.

(c) Judicial relief

A person whose religious exercise has been burdened in violation of this section 
may assert that violation as a claim or defense in a judicial proceeding and 
obtain appropriate relief against a government....

42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-2. 

B. Codification of Supreme Court precedent. RFRA was enacted in 
response to the Supreme Court’s decision in Employment Division v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872 
(1990), which held that the Free Exercise Clause does not bar the government from 
burdening the free exercise of religion with neutral laws generally applied and restored 
the pre-Smith standard as set forth in Sherbert v. Verner, 374 U.S. 398 (1963), and 
Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205 (1972). 

C. Ninth Circuit standard for substantial burden. A “substantial burden” 
is imposed only when individuals are: (1) forced to choose between following the tenets 
of their religion and receiving a governmental benefit or (2) are coerced to act contrary to 
their religious beliefs by the threat of civil or criminal sanctions. See Navajo Nation v. 
United States Forest Service, 535 F.3d 1058, 1070 (9th Cir. 2008), cert. denied, 129 S. 
Ct. 2763 (2009). 

D. Unconstitutional as to state law. RFRA has been held unconstitutional 
with respect to state law by City of Boerne v. Flores, 521 U.S. 507 (1997), but still 
applicable to federal law. Query if this has created incentive for diocese to file 
bankruptcy. Only if federal statute is implicated is there a potential RFRA defense.

E. Does RFRA trump avoidance powers under Bankruptcy Code?

1. In the diocese cases, the issues are: (1) Does avoidance of a 
transfer or interest (or enforcement of other code provision). impose a “substantial 
burden” on the free exercise of religion? (2) If so, is the burden (i.e., the recovery of a 
fraudulent transfer or avoidance of an unrecorded interest in property) in furtherance of a 
compelling government interest? (3) Is the burden the least restrictive means of furthering 
this compelling government interest?
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2. Strong arguments can be made that recovering transfers from a 
diocese to other entities within diocesan family does not violate this standard. It would 
not force an individual to choose between following a religion and receiving a 
government benefit. There is no government benefit involved. Nor would it coerce an 
individual to act contrary to personal religious beliefs under threat of civil or criminal 
sanctions. A diocese may still support its parishes and affiliated entities. The donation 
simply may be recovered from the donee if it occurred within a certain proximity to the 
diocese’s bankruptcy. Indeed, numerous courts have found that sections 544 and 548 of 
the Bankruptcy Code do not violate RFRA because they do not “substantially burden” a 
person’s free exercise of religion. See, e.g., Liebersohn v. First Baptist Church (In re C.F. 
Foods, Inc.), 2001 WL 1632272 (W.D. Pa. Dec. 20, 2001) (concluding that the defendant 
(a church) failed to show that the recovery of donations from a corporate donor would 
substantially burden its free exercise of religion); Morris v. Midway Southern Baptist 
Church (In re Nelson), 203 B.R. 468, 477 (D. Kan.1996) (holding that section 548 does 
not substantially burden an individual’s freedom to practice religion and that the 
government’s interest in maintaining an equitable system of bankruptcy laws is 
compelling); Weinman v. Word of Life Christian Center (In re Bloch), 207 B.R. 944, 949-
50 (D. Colo. 1997) (same); Hartvig v. Tri–City Baptist Temple of Milwaukie (In re 
Gomes), 219 B.R. 286, 294-295 (Bankr. D. Ore. 1998) (same).1

3. United States v. Crystal Evangelical Free Church(In re Young), 
82 F.3d 1407 (8th Cir. 1996). This case was decided before the enactment of the safe-
harbor provisions for charitable contributions in Bankruptcy Code. The Eighth Circuit 
concluded that the government did not have a compelling state interest in permitting 
section 548 to be used to avoid tithes. It explained:

[W]e cannot see how the recognition of what is in effect a free exercise 
exception to the avoidance of fraudulent transfers can undermine the 
integrity of the bankruptcy system as a whole; its effect will necessarily be 
limited to the debtor's creditors, who will as a result have fewer assets 
available to apply to the outstanding liabilities, and not all creditors or 
even all debtors. This is not to say that the recognition of a free exercise 
exception under these circumstances may not have adverse economic 
consequences for both creditors and debtors; for example, creditors may 
be more cautious in doing business with those who tithe or make 
contributions to religious organizations. Because we hold that allowing 
debtors a fresh start and protecting the interests of creditors are not 
compelling governmental interests under the RFRA, we need not reach the 

                                               
1 Numerous courts have held that allowing a trustee to pursue fraudulent transfers against a church 
does not violate the First Amendment (as opposed to RFRA) because section 548 of the 
Bankruptcy Code is a generally applicable law that does not target religion. See Universal Church 
v. Geltzer, 463 F.3d 218, 227-228  (2d Cir. 2006). Geltzer was post-RFRA and post safe-harbor 
amendments, but the transferee did not raise RFRA, only the Constitution. See also C.F. Foods, 
2001 WL 1632272, *5-6 (sections 544 and 548 do not violate RFRA or the Constitution); Nelson , 
203 B.R. at 475 (section 548 does not violate RFRA or Constitution); Bloch, 207 B.R. at 951-52 
(section 548 does not violate RFRA or the Constitution).



KHB-002\DOCS_SF:76637.1 6

question of whether the governmental action is the least restrictive means 
of furthering the compelling governmental interest.

82 F.3d at 1420. See also Magic Valley Evangelical Free Church v. Fitzgerald (In 
re Hodge), 220 B.R. 386 (D. Idaho 1998) (holding that the application of section 
548 to recover a debtor’s church tithes substantially burdens the debtor’s free 
exercise of religion).

4. At least one court has held that the application of a bankruptcy 
avoidance statute to recover church property that would result in the closure of parish 
schools might “substantially burden” the donor’s (here the parishioners’) free exercise of 
religion. Tort Claimants’ Committee v. Roman Catholic Archbishop of Portland in 
Oregon (In re Roman Catholic Archbishop of Portland in Oregon), 335 B.R. 842 (Bankr. 
D. Ore. 2005), discussed infra. RFRA may create a defense to liquidation of church 
assets. “If application of the [Bankruptcy Code] leaves the parishioners and school 
children with no place to worship and study, because no facilities are available, and if 
they establish that worship and study are central to religious doctrine, the burden [on their 
exercise of religion] could be substantial.” Id. at 864.

5. If application of a particular Bankruptcy Code section creates 
substantial burden on religion should case be dismissed? Committee of Tort Litigants 
v. Catholic Diocese of Spokane (In re Catholic Diocese of Spokane) , 329 B.R. 304, 324 
n.5 (Bankr. E.D. Wash. 2005). (“If application of a particular Code section would 
constitute a substantial burden on religion, the appropriate remedy would be dismissal of 
the bankruptcy case. The Code is an integrated statutory scheme. Bankruptcy debtors 
who voluntarily choose to participate in that statutory scheme, even those of a religious 
nature, should not be able to pick and choose among Code sections.”), reversed in part, 
364 B.R. 81, (E.D. Wash. 2006).

III. Bankruptcy Issues 

A. What is the debtor? 

1. Corporate form. The diocese may be organized under applicable 
state law as a “corporation sole,” which is a religious corporation with one member (the 
bishop), or as a nonprofit religious corporation. In either of these civil entity forms, the 
diocese can own, lease, and sell property and sue and be sued. The church always 
contends that there is another ecclesiastical entity under canon law known as the diocese, 
which is not a corporation but is a juridic person under canon law, and that the 
corporation sole or nonprofit religious corporation (the civil entity) and the juridic person 
(the ecclesiastical entity) are separate entities even though both are controlled by the 
bishop. Parishes are also separate juridic or ecclesiastical entities under canon law 
irrespective of their existence or treatment under civil law. 

2. Different concepts of property ownership under civil law and 
canon law. Property ownership concepts are different under civil law and canon law. 



KHB-002\DOCS_SF:76637.1 7

Canon law separates ownership from control and administration. A parish can own 
property under canon law but the ultimate control of that property resides in the bishop.

3. Are parishes separate from the diocese? Sometimes the parishes 
are separately incorporated and sometimes they are not. When they are not, the church 
may contend that they are nevertheless legally distinct entities. There are state-law 
variations on the rights and powers of unincorporated associations under civil law. For 
example, can they sue and be sued? Can they hold title to property? Can they be the 
beneficiaries of a trust? These state laws can have significant impact on whether parish 
property (financial assets, real estate on which churches and schools sit) is determined to 
be property of the estate available to satisfy claims of the abuse victims. 

4. Application of canon law or civil law to determine property of 
the estate. Under canon law, parishes are separate juridic entities even if they are not 
incorporated under state law and may own property separately from the diocese and 
property acquired by the parish is not owned by the diocese. Thus, dioceses in bankruptcy 
with unincorporated parishes contend that parish property is not property of the estate 
even where the parishes are not distinct legal entities under state law and the property is 
titled to the diocese under state law. Bankruptcy courts have not been persuaded by this 
contention.

5. Application of alter ego/corporate veil-piercing doctrines and 
substantive consolidation. In Milwaukee and Wilmington, each parish was separately 
incorporated decades ago; this makes the issue of whether the diocese is separate from 
the parishes more complex. Outside of a consensual resolution of the survivor abuse 
claims, substantive consolidation and state law equitable veil-piercing/alter ego doctrines 
will need to be litigated. Clearly, these doctrines were not developed with the 
organizational structure of the church in mind. For example, the alter-ego doctrine is 
generally applied where there is common ownership between entities – the veil is pierced 
up to the controlling entity that owns all or part of the stock of the controlled entity. The 
dioceses contend that the doctrine is not applicable where there is no direct or indirect 
parent-subsidiary relationship and that under the law in some states, the doctrine of 
reverse veil piercing (piercing down to make the controlled entity liable for the debts of 
the controlling entity) is not permissible.

(a) Does substantive consolidation of nondebtor parishes and 
other related Catholic entities violate rules with respect to involuntary filings? Does 
substantive consolidation result in the prohibited commencement of an involuntary 
bankruptcy proceeding against  a corporation that is not a moneyed, business, or 
commercial corporation? 

(i) “Substantive consolidation does not eviscerate the 
protections of nondebtors contained in § 303 of the Bankruptcy Code, 
because by definition, those protections only apply when creditors use 
§ 303 to file and prosecute an involuntary bankruptcy petition.  
Substantive consolidation is a different remedy with a different purpose.  
The doctrine of substantive consolidation has its own protections for the 
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nondebtor built into it.” Gold v. Winget (In re NM Holdings Co.), 407 B.R. 
232, 280 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 2009).

B. What constitutes property of the estate?

1. Restricted and unrestricted property and trust and trust-like 
relationships.

(a) Designated restricted by debtor

(b) Designated restricted by donor

(c) Unrestricted

(d) Liquidation under state law

2. Has a trust relationship been established and does it remain 
valid?

(a) Merger doctrine. No trust relationship exists where sole 
beneficial interest and legal title are in the same person. Restatement (Second ) of Trusts 
§ 99(5) (sole beneficiary cannot be sole trustee). Therefore, if parishes are alter egos of 
dioceses, the diocese cannot hold property in valid trust for parishes because the trustee 
and beneficiary is the same legal entity.

(b) In re Tort Claimants’ Comm. v. Roman Catholic 
Archbishop (In re Roman Catholic Archbishop of Portland in Oregon), 345 B.R. 686 
(Bankr. D. Ore. 2006). The debtor contended that $36 million was held in a charitable 
trust and not property of the estate available to satisfy the claims of the survivors. The 
declaration of trust showed that the trust was created by the Archbishop of Portland for 
the benefit of the Archdiocese of Portland and the power to amend or modify any of the 
provisions of the trust was reserved to the Office of the Archbishop of Portland. The 
claimants’ committee brought a declaratory relief action seeking a determination that 
the fund was property of the estate on two theories: (i) the purported trust was self-
settled (by the debtor) and revocable and (ii) the debtor was both the trustee and sole 
beneficiary of the trust and therefore the trust is invalid under the merger doctrine. The 
court rejected both of the committee’s arguments.

(i) The debtor was both settlor and trustee, but the 
power to revoke resided in Office of the Archbishop of Portland,  
which was not same entity as the debtor. The court found that the 
debtor, in its civil entity embodiment as a corporation sole, was the trustee 
and the settler of the trust. (The Archdiocese of Portland was found to be 
the settlor and the trustee of the trust when the trust was created and this 
corporation had merged into the debtor.) However, the court determined 
that the “Office of the Archbishop of Portland,” which had the power to 
modify and amend the trust (and, the committee argued, therefore the 
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power of revocation), was the canonical office of the Archbishop, which 
was not the same as the corporate debtor. Stated another way, the settlor 
and trustee were the diocese in its civil entity embodiment, while the 
power to modify the trust was reserved to the Archbishop as an 
ecclesiastical office rather than to the debtor, which was a corporation sole 
organized under state law. Therefore even if the power to modify or 
amend the trust gave rise to the power to revoke it, this power was not 
held by the debtor. The decision seems to ignore the fact that the bishop is 
the sole member and president of the debtor in its civil form and is also the 
head of the diocese as a juridic entity and always sits in the “Office of the 
Archbishop of Portland.”

(ii) Rejection of merger argument. With respect to the 
committee’s merger argument (because trustee and beneficiary are the 
same entity, the trust is void), the court concluded that while the debtor 
was the trustee and a beneficiary of the trust, the debtor was not the only
beneficiary. While two of the three stated objectives of the trust were to 
benefit the debtor/archdiocese, the third objective was to benefit the 
Roman Catholic Church in America and throughout the world, which the 
debtor argued was a broader concept under canon law than the debtor. The 
court concluded that while the archdiocese was the settler and trustee and 
a beneficiary of the trust, it was not the sole beneficiary; therefore the 
merger doctrine did not apply to invalidate the trust.  

3. If valid trust exists, can assets purportedly held in trust be 
traced? Official Committee v. Catholic Diocese of Wilmington (In re Catholic Diocese of 
Wilmington.), 432 B.R. 135 (Bankr. D. Del. 2010). The court held that where trust funds 
have been commingled with nontrust funds, meticulous accounting is insufficient and 
trust funds must be identified by application of the lowest intermediate balance test. The 
burden is on the debtor/ beneficiaries to trace commingled trust funds; if they do not have 
sufficient records to do so, assets are property of the estate.

4. Portland and Spokane bankruptcy courts rejected claims that 
that parishes owned property titled to diocese or that diocese held property in trust 
for parishes.

(a) Committee of Tort Litigants v. Catholic Diocese of 
Spokane (In re Catholic Diocese of Spokane), 329 B.R. 304 (Bankr. E.D. Wash. 
2005), reversed in part, 364 B.R. 81, (E.D. Wash. 2006). The diocese contended that 
real and personal property in which it held title were nevertheless not property of the 
estate because under canon law, the parishes and other members of the diocesan family 
own the property and the court is bound to apply that law rather than state law in 
determining whether the disputed property was property of the estate. Even if debtor 
did own property, it held it in a constructive or resulting trust for parishes. The 
bankruptcy court granted summary judgment that real property constitutes property of 
the estate and held as follows: 
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(i) The bankruptcy court determined that the diocese 
was not judicially estoped from contending that parishioners owned 
certain property because in prior litigation the diocese had taken the 
position that it rather than the parishes owned the property. 

(ii) RFRA is not a defense to application of state law 
under section 541 to determine property of estate.

(iii) Real property titled to the bishop is property of 
estate.

(iv) Bishop was not holding property in constructive or 
resulting trust.

(v) The bankruptcy court also gratuitously determined 
that even if property was held in a resulting trust for parishes or their 
members, section 544(a)(3) gives the debtor status of bona fide purchaser 
and the estate would be able to avoid any unrecorded beneficial interests 
asserted by parishes or other members of diocesan family. 

(b) Reversal and by the District Court. The district court 
reversed and remanded the bankruptcy court’s summary judgment that the diocese was 
owner of parish properties and that parishes had failed to submit evidence that they 
were at a minimum beneficial owners of real property on which their schools and 
churches stand under resulting trust theory. Committee of Tort Litigants v. Catholic 
Diocese of Spokane, 364 B.R. 81 (E.D. Wa. 2006). 

(c) Tort Claimants’ Comm. v. Roman Catholic Archbishop 
(In re Roman Catholic Archbishop of Portland in Oregon), 335 B.R. 842 (Bankr. D. 
Ore. 2005). The archdiocese contended that although it held legal title to approximately 
$100 million in deposits and investment accounts and an extensive amount of real 
estate, most of that property was either owned by the parishes under canon law or that it 
was held in trust for the parishes and was therefore not property of the estate. The 
committee filed an adversary proceeding seeking a determination that the assets titled 
to the debtor were property of the estate and seeking to avoid any unrecorded interests 
in the real property asserted by the parishes under section 544(a). The debtor and 
parishes attempted to persuade the court that canon law required the court to recognize 
the separate existence of 124 parishes and find that real property titled to the debtor was 
not property of the estate because under canon law the property was “owned” by the 
parishes. Only one parish was actually incorporated under state law. The others had no
separate existence under civil law. The parishes also claimed that the application of 
section 544 to avoid any unrecorded interests in parish and school property would 
violate RFRA. 

(i) The bankruptcy court is not required to apply or 
be bound by internal church law in deciding secular matter of 
property interests. Judge Perris rejected the argument of the debtor and 
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the parishes, reasoning the bankruptcy court is not required to apply and 
be bound by internal church doctrine in deciding the purely secular matter 
of property interests under the Bankruptcy Code and state law. 

(ii) Under state (Oregon) law, unincorporated 
associations such as parishes and schools are not separate legal 
entities with capacity to sue or be sued and therefore are not 
independent unincorporated associations that can be beneficiaries of a 
trust. “[U]nincorporated religious associations are not legal persons that 
may take title to real property in their names. . . . They are not separate 
from, but are merely part of the debtor.”  Id. at 866.

(iii) RFRA defense is not applicable to determination 
of what constitutes property of the estate under section 541. The debtor 
argued that in determining what constitutes property of the estate under 
section 541, the bankruptcy court’s failure to recognize the separation of 
the debtor’s assets from parish assets under canon law would be a 
substantial burden on religious exercise and a violation of RFRA. Judge 
Perris questioned whether RFRA applied in light of the fact that it has 
been held unconstitutional with respect to state law and determinations of 
what constitutes property of the estate under 541 are made under state law. 
The court reasoned that even if RFRA did apply to section 541, 
application of that section would not result in substantial burden on 
exercise of religion because the debtor could have incorporated parishes 
and put property in their name but it did not. “If a religious organization’s 
manner of holding property fails under neutral civil law to protect its 
internal view of property ownership, but such internal view could have 
been accommodated by civil law, the burden on the exercise of religion is 
caused not by the neutral law but by the religious organizations own 
choice.” Id. at 862. The court distinguished this situation from tithing 
cases in which the trustee attempted to avoid tithes and the debtor 
sometimes successfully raised a RFRA defense because there was nothing 
an individual believer who tithed could do to protect religiously motivated 
giving from avoidance (before section 548 was amended to protect such 
transfers).  11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(2).  

(iv) Does RFRA create a defense to avoidance actions 
under section 544?. A committee of parishioners claimed that the use of 
the bankruptcy trustee's powers as a bona fide purchaser of real property
under section 544(a)(3) to avoid any unrecorded interests in parish and 
school real property would substantially burden the exercise of religion –
not of the debtor, but of those who contributed to the acquisition and 
maintenance of parish and school property and who worship and are 
educated there. They argued that applying section 544(a)(3) to avoid 
unrecorded interests in the parish and school real property would violate 
RFRA because the donors made religiously motivated contributions to 
their parishes, not to the diocese, and taking the fruits of their 
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contributions to pay the claims of the archdiocese would substantially 
burden the exercise of their religion. They also argued that the loss of 
some of the parish churches would substantially burden their exercise of 
religion. The court denied the creditors’ committee’s request for summary 
judgment on this issue, but indicated that RFRA could be a defense to an 
avoidance action under section 544(a)(3) under certain circumstances, 
stating:

RFRA would prevent avoidance of the asserted beneficial 
interests of parishioners and those who have donated and 
sent children to the Archdiocesan high schools only if that 
avoidance would substantially burden the exercise of 
religion. I conclude that there is a question of fact as to 
whether avoidance of any such interests would 
substantially burden the exercise of religion. 

The result of a successful § 544(a)(3) claim in this case 
could mean that the asserted interests of parishioners and 
other donors would be avoided on all or substantially all of 
the parish and school real properties, on which the parish 
churches and Archdiocesan high schools are located. Once 
those interests are avoided, the property could be used to 
meet the claims of creditors, free of any interests of the 
parishioners and other donors. In order to use the properties 
to meet the claims of creditors, the properties could be sold, 
which would make those churches and schools unavailable 
to the parishioners and school children to use for worship 
and education.

. . . .

The possibility that the result of the [Committee’s] 
§ 544(a)(3) claim could be the loss of all parish church and 
Archdiocesan school properties titled in debtor's name 
raises a question of fact regarding whether application of 
§ 544(a)(3) would impose a substantial burden on the 
parishioners' exercise of religion. Without knowing the 
amount of the claims or the value of the real property, or 
what alternatives parishioners and school children would 
have for worship and religious education, I cannot tell 
whether application of § 544(a)(3) would create a 
substantial burden on the exercise of religion. The burden 
might not be substantial, depending on the number of 
properties that must be sold to pay claims of creditors and 
whether there are alternative locations for worship and 
religious education. But if application of the statute leaves 
the parishioners and school children with no place to 
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worship and study, because no facilities are available, and 
if they establish that worship and study are central to 
religious doctrine, the burden could be substantial.

Id. at 863-64 (emphasis added).

(1) No compelling government interest in 
application of section 544(a)(3). The court said:

Although I do not doubt the importance of the uniform application 
of the Bankruptcy Code and implementation of the policies of 
bankruptcy law, I agree with the Eighth Circuit's view articulated 
in the first Young case that ‘the interests advanced by the 
bankruptcy system are not compelling under the RFRA.’ The 
purpose of § 544(a)(3) is to maximize the bankruptcy estate and 
thereby maximize the recovery for creditors. But the Bankruptcy 
Code itself contains various provisions that limit the breadth of the 
estate, including, for example, § 541(d), which excludes from the 
bankruptcy estate property in which a debtor holds only legal but 
not equitable title. There are also exceptions in the Bankruptcy 
Code to the policy of providing a debtor with a fresh start, such as 
the exceptions to discharge set out in § 523(a). Thus, the 
Bankruptcy Code itself provides for exceptions that do not further 
the policies of the Code. In light of those exceptions, I conclude 
that there is no compelling governmental interest in applying § 
544(a)(3), if doing so would impose a substantial burden on the 
exercise of religion. If, after a trial, defendants show that 
application of § 544(a)(3) would impose a substantial burden on 
the exercise of religion, the question would become what remedy 
would be appropriate. RFRA provides that “[a] person whose 
religious exercise has been burdened in violation of [RFRA] may 
... obtain appropriate relief against a government.” 42 U.S.C. § 
2000bb-1(c) (emphasis supplied). There are many forms that relief 
might take. One possibility might be to limit the number of 
properties subject to the avoidance powers of § 544(a)(3), if it is 
shown that the loss of some but not all of the churches and schools 
would be inconvenient but not substantially burdensome. What 
relief would be appropriate is a question left for another day. There 
is a question of fact as to whether application of § 544(a)(3) 
impose a substantial burden on defendants.”

Id. at 865 (citation omitted).

(2) The bankruptcy court suggested that section 544 
is different than section 541 in context of RFRA. Section 544 is a 
federal statute that has the potential to alter the property rights of the 
debtor and a third party by granting avoidance powers that are not 
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available under state law if there were no actual bona fide purchaser of 
real property. Section 544 creates a hypothetical bona fide purchaser under 
federal law and therefore RFRA may be implicated if it creates a 
substantial burden upon religion. Section 541, on the other hand, merely 
applies nonbankruptcy (usually state) law to determine what constitutes 
property of the estate.

(d) Tort Claimants Committee v. Roman Catholic Archbishop 
of Portland (Roman Catholic Archbishop of Portland), 335 B.R. 868 (Bankr. D. Ore. 
2005). In a subsequent decision, Judge Perris granted the committee’s motion for 
summary judgment that the unrecorded interests in nine test properties could be 
avoided by using the trustee’s/debtor’s rights and powers as a hypothetical bona fide 
purchaser of real property on the date of the bankruptcy filing. The court granted 
summary judgment notwithstanding the RFRA issues because only a limited number of 
“test” properties were involved; even after the interests were avoided, there would still 
be sufficient properties available where the parishioners could worship and children 
could attend school. 

(e) Different result after Navajo Nation? Note that the 
decisions from the Portland bankruptcy court preceded the Ninth Circuit’s en banc 
decision in Navajo Nation v. United States Forest Service, 535 F.3d 1058, 1070 (9th 
Cir. 2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 2763 ( 2009). This decision defines “substantial 
burden” in very narrow terms and holds that it is imposed only when individuals are: 
(1) forced to choose between following the tenets of their religion and receiving a 
governmental benefit or (2) are coerced to act contrary to their religious beliefs by the 
threat of civil or criminal sanctions. The substantial burden standard articulated in 
Navajo Nation could dictate a different conclusion than reached by the Portland 
bankruptcy court with respect to RFRA’s impact on the Bankruptcy Code. 

C. Additional avoidance action issues.

1. Fraudulent transfers. The creation or “formalization” of and 
funding of trusts prior to filing and the amendment of corporate documents that purport to 
create trust relationships or memorialize “existing” trust relationships for benefit of 
parishes and other affiliated entities result in potentially avoidable transfers. 

2. What is reasonably equivalent value in the context of  
charitable contributions or transfers within the diocesan family?

(a) Does value have to be monetary or can it be spiritual?
Some cases hold that fulfilling a church’s mission statement can constitute reasonably 
equivalent value. Wilson v. Upreach Ministries (In re Missionary Baptist Foundation of 
America), 24 B.R. 973 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 1982). But see Scholes v. African Enterprise, 
Inc., 854 F. Supp. 1315, 1328 (N.D. Ill. 1994) (holding that the promise by a charity to 
use the money for the purpose designated by the debtor and consistent with the 
charity’s mission was inadequate consideration under Illinois fraudulent transfer law 
and holding that actual monetary consideration is required), aff’d, 56 F.3d 750 (7th Cir. 
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1995). Before the enactment of the Religious Liberty and Charitable Donation 
Protection Act of 1998 ("RLCDPA"), which modified several provisions of the 
Bankruptcy Code to protect certain contributions to qualified religious or charitable 
organizations by debtors under chapters 7, 11, 12, and 13 (see Bankruptcy Code section 
548(a)(2) and (d)(3) requiring that donation be made by a “natural person” to be 
entitled to protection), some courts held that spiritual services given to church members 
constituted “value” such that the debtor’s prepetition tithes could not be avoided as 
fraudulent transfers.  See, e.g., Ellenberg v. Chapel Hill Harvester Church, Inc. (In re 
Moses), 59 B.R. 815, 818-19 (Bankr. N.D. Ga. 1986) (holding that while a church gave 
nothing tangible to the debtors in exchange for their tithes and offerings, the church 
gave reasonably equivalent value in the form of the services it provided such as 
counseling, religious services, and the utilities that were functioning while the debtor 
attended them). However, many cases go the other way, holding that “value” requires a 
monetary benefit, rather than a spiritual one.  See, e.g., Zahra Spiritual Trust v. United 
States, 910 F.2d 240, 249 (5th Cir. 1990) (holding that Missionary Baptist was 
distinguishable because under Texas state fraudulent conveyance law monetary – not 
spiritual – value is required), aff’d after remand, 38 F.3d 569 (5th Cir. 1994); Newman, 
203 B.R. at  473 (“Clearly the statute asks whether the debtor was providing something 
with economic value, as opposed to religious or spiritual value.”); Bloch, 207 B.R. at 
948 (holding, in a pre-RLCDPA case, that spiritual services given by a church did not 
constitute “value” in exchange for tithes and stating, “[T]he statute requires that the 
debtor must have been provided with something of economic as opposed to religious or 
spiritual value.”); Gomes, 219 B.R. 286 at 292-93 (holding, in a pre-RLCDPA case, 
that spiritual services given by a church did not constitute “property” and could not be 
the basis for “value” in exchange for tithes); Young, 148 B.R. at 896 (“Property is 
value, charitable contributions are not.”).

(b) The “in exchange for” requirement. Assuming that the 
transferee gave value, the value must have been given “in exchange” for the challenged 
transfer. See Newman, 203 B.R. at 473 (holding – in a pre RLCDPA case – that a 
debtor’s tithes were not given “in exchange” for the services that the church provided 
which the church would have given even if the debtors had not tithed); Bloch, 207 B.R. 
at 948 (same); Gomes, 219 B.R. at 293 (same); Young, 148 B.R. at 895 (same). 

(c)  The “reasonably equivalent” requirement. Once a court 
determines that the transferee gave value for the challenged transfer, it must determine 
if that value was “reasonably equivalent” to what the debtor gave. The term 
“reasonably equivalent” is not defined in the Bankruptcy Code or in the UFTA. Courts 
do not apply a mathematical formula to determine whether reasonably equivalent value 
is present, but instead consider the totality of the circumstances surrounding the 
transaction. 

D. Management of the estate

1. Bankruptcy presents conflict for the debtor and the bishop. A 
debtor in possession normally has fiduciary duty to creditors where estate is insolvent. 
Diocesan bankruptcies invariably present conflict issues for the bishop, whose primary 
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loyalty and allegiance is to the church and its members; he is focused on shielding assets 
from claims of survivors. The bishop/debtor has no incentive to maximize the estate but 
rather to minimize it in order to shield assets from the claims of the survivors. This is 
accomplished, in part, by taking a very narrow view of what constitutes property of the 
estate and an expansive view of what property is restricted even if it is estate property. 

(a) In a usual commercial case, creditors may move for 
dismissal, conversion, or the appointment of a chapter 11 trustee or examiner where 
they are unsatisfied with the management of the debtor in possession. The bankruptcy 
court may not convert the case to chapter 7 if the debtor is “a corporation that is not a 
moneyed, business, or commercial corporation.” 11 U.S.C. § 1112(c). The diocese will 
argue that a bankruptcy court does not have constitutional power to appoint a chapter 
11 trustee for a diocese because it would be an impermissible interference with the 
management of a religious entity. 

(b) In the San Diego diocese bankruptcy case, Judge Adler 
appointed an expert under Federal Rule of Evidence 706.

E. Who is equity?

1. Does equity exist in not-for-profit corporations? In Wabash 
Valley Power, 72 F.3d 1305, the Seventh Circuit addressed the issue of whether entities 
affiliated with a not-for-profit organization have an equity interest for purposes of the 
absolute priority rule and held that they did not because the essence of an equity interest 
is an ownership or interest in the organization’s profit. The Seventh Circuit identified 
three components of an equity interest: (i) control, (ii) profit share, and (iii) ownership of 
corporate assets. Id. In Security Farms v. General Teamsters (In re General Teamsters), 
265 F.3d 869 (9th Cir. 2001), the Ninth Circuit also addressed the question of whether 
equity exists in a nonprofit corporation in the context of the application of the absolute 
priority rule. The Ninth Circuit, following Wabash, held that a neither the local union’s 
international parent nor the local union’s members had an equity interest in the local 
union. 

2. Who are the creditors? Under normal bankruptcy principles, 
where the debtor is insolvent and there are no equity interests to consider, the unsecured 
creditors (the abuse survivors) would be residual claimants and should have significant 
input in the management of the debtor.  This is not the case in diocesan bankruptcies 
where the bishop (the debtor’s management) remains in control and creditors have far 
less input into management than would be the case with a garden-variety insolvent 
debtor. What about the parishioners? They are not creditors and have no apparent basis 
for asserting a claim or interest in a bankruptcy case (except perhaps if resulting trust is 
avoided or trust assets cannot be traced). In practice though, courts do not ignore the 
interests of the diocesan community and usually allow the debtor to make postpetition 
payments to continue the mission of the church even where there is no clear benefit to the 
estate and the payments are estate depleting. In the chapter 11 case of the Diocese of 
Wilmington, the bankruptcy court regularly allowed estate depleting payments to 
nondebtor entities in order to continue the mission of the diocese.
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F. Can sex abuse claims be estimated? In some cases the diocese has 
sought to estimate the aggregate amount of sex abuse claims in an effort to confirm a
non-consensual plan or otherwise gain leverage over the survivors of sex abuse. 
Estimation for purposes of distribution denies right to jury trial. In re Dow Corning 
Corp., 211 B.R. 545 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 1997), the debtor sought estimation to establish 
the feasibility of a plan. The strategy behind the debtor’s estimation request to determine 
the aggregate value of tort claims was to limit the amount available to the tort claimants. 
The bankruptcy court recognized that the tort claimants had a right to a jury trial and 
stated “if estimation for plan confirmation purposes results in de facto estimation for 
distribution purposes, via the effects of the plan of reorganization and the discharge 
provisions of sec. 1141(d), a claimants right to a jury trial for purposes of liquidating her 
claim becomes hollow.”  Id. at 569. The Court further stated that “the combination of 
sections 157(b)(5) and 1411(a) supports the view that no individual personal injury 
claimant can be forced to forego a jury trial of her claim.” Id. at 595. 28 U.S.C. section 
157(b)(5) provides that a district court “shall order that personal injury. . . claims shall be 
tried” and Bankruptcy Code section 1141 provides that “title 11 do[es] not affect any 
right to trial by jury that an individual has under applicable non-bankruptcy law with 
regard to a personal injury claim.” Id. at 596. Other courts have also recognized that 
where estimation for plan confirmation purposes results in estimation for distribution 
purposes, effectively capping the claims, the claimants’ right to a jury trial is denied.
Roman Catholic Archbishop of Portland, 339 B.R.at 221 (aggregate estimation of sex 
abuse claims violates due process where claimants right to a remedy for tortuous 
behavior substantially and irreversibly affected by estimation that establishes a cap on 
amount available to pay liquidated claims and that amount could prove inadequate if the 
estimate is low).  See also In re the Roman Catholic Bishop of San Diego, 374 B.R. 756, 
762 (Bankr. S.D. Cal. 2007) (proposed estimation of sex abuse claims denies right to jury 
trial).

G. Plan and Discharge Issues.

1. Problems in confirming nonconsensual plan

(a) Meeting best interests test.

(i) Does it apply when a nonprofit cannot be put into 
an involuntary?

(ii) Does this replace need for property litigation? 

(b) Fair and equitable test for nonprofits?

(c) Feasibility. In re Save Our Springs (S.O.S.) Alliance, 632 
F.3d 168 (5th Cir. 2001) (affirming bankruptcy court decision denying confirmation of a 
Chapter 11 plan of a nonprofit corporation on the grounds that voluntary pledges from 
donors are too speculative to provide evidence of feasibility. 

(d) Non-monetary concessions in nonconsensual plan
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(e) Valuation of property

(f) RFRA analysis

(g) Is a discharge necessary at all?

2. Insurance issues 

(a) What is an occurrence-volitional acts v. accident 

(b) How many occurrences

(c) Continuous trigger theories

(d) Lost policies due diligence 

(e) Notice-impact on coverage

(f) Assignment of coverage rights to postconfirmation trusts

(g) Duty to cooperate and coverage impact

(h) Policy buyback: Who gets proceeds? 

3. Third-party discharge: parishes and insurers  

(a) Channeling injunctions
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